UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO USFQ

Colegio de Ciencias e Ingenierías

Exploring Student's Interdisciplinary Contributions to More Sustainable Solutions in the Built Environment and Infrastructure Design

Holbeein Josué Velásquez Vaca

Ingeniería Civil

Trabajo de fin de carrera presentado como requisito para la obtención del título de Ingeniero Civil

Quito, 09 de mayo de 2022

UNIVERSIDAD SAN FRANCISCO DE QUITO USFQ

Colegio de Ciencias e Ingenierías

HOJA DE CALIFICACIÓN DE TRABAJO DE FIN DE CARRERA

Exploring Student's Interdisciplinary Contributions to More Sustainable Solutions in the Built Environment and Infrastructure Design

Holbeein Josué Velásquez Vaca

Nombre del profesor, Título académico

MiguelAndrés Guerra Moscoso, PhD

Quito, 09 de mayo de 2022

3

© DERECHOS DE AUTOR

Por medio del presente documento certifico que he leído todas las Políticas y Manuales

de la Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ, incluyendo la Política de Propiedad

Intelectual USFQ, y estoy de acuerdo con su contenido, por lo que los derechos de propiedad

intelectual del presente trabajo quedan sujetos a lo dispuesto en esas Políticas.

Asimismo, autorizo a la USFQ para que realice la digitalización y publicación de este

trabajo en el repositorio virtual, de conformidad a lo dispuesto en la Ley Orgánica de Educación

Superior del Ecuador.

Nombres y apellidos:

Holbeein Josué Velásquez Vaca

Código:

00202164

Cédula de identidad:

1723451264

Lugar y fecha:

Quito, 09 de mayo de 2022

ACLARACIÓN PARA PUBLICACIÓN

Nota: El presente trabajo, en su totalidad o cualquiera de sus partes, no debe ser considerado como una publicación, incluso a pesar de estar disponible sin restricciones a través de un repositorio institucional. Esta declaración se alinea con las prácticas y recomendaciones presentadas por el Committee on Publication Ethics COPE descritas por Barbour et al. (2017) Discussion document on best practice for issues around theses publishing, disponible en http://bit.ly/COPETheses.

UNPUBLISHED DOCUMENT

Note: The following capstone project is available through Universidad San Francisco de Quito USFQ institutional repository. Nonetheless, this project – in whole or in part – should not be considered a publication. This statement follows the recommendations presented by the Committee on Publication Ethics COPE described by Barbour et al. (2017) Discussion document on best practice for issues around theses publishing available on http://bit.ly/COPETheses.

RESUMEN

Los desafíos del mundo actual requieren soluciones complejas a partir de desarrollos multifacéticos e interdisciplinarios. Existen importantes investigaciones que sustentan la idea de que el mundo contemporáneo se sostiene sobre la interacción de diferentes campos del saber. De igual forma, el mayor impacto en soluciones y desarrollos está directamente relacionado con el nivel de interdisciplinariedad del equipo desarrollador. Este artículo analiza las prácticas interdisciplinarias actuales en la educación en ingeniería a través de un estudio de caso exitoso. Específicamente, investigamos a un equipo de estudiantes que participó en un concurso mundial de concreto y cuya propuesta de solución obtuvo el primer lugar. Los miembros de dichos equipos provenían de diferentes orígenes, áreas de especialización y niveles de conocimiento. Este estudio exploratorio preliminar utiliza un análisis de contenido de las características de la solución presentada por los estudiantes para identificar rasgos de sostenibilidad y su conexión multidisciplinar. Los resultados sugieren que las interacciones en equipos interdisciplinarios promueven diseños que maximicen soluciones eficientes. Los autores establecieron el camino para el trabajo futuro al realizar entrevistas y grupos focales con los miembros del equipo de estudiantes y los instructores asesores para comprender las contribuciones diferenciadas de cada miembro y sus características. Los autores reflexionan sobre el camino que podría tomar la academia para formar nuevos enfoques pedagógicos que incluyan la interdisciplinariedad en las escuelas de ingeniería.

Palabras clave: Equipo interdisciplinario, interdisciplinariedad, soluciones sotenibles, objetivos de desarrollo sostenibles, interdisciplinariedad en ingeniería, educación en ingeniería.

ABSTRACT

Current world challenges require complex solutions from multifaceted and interdisciplinary developments. There is significant research that supports the idea that the contemporary world stands on the interaction of different fields of knowledge. Similarly, the higher impact on solutions and developments is directly related to the level of interdisciplinarity of the developing team. This paper looks at current interdisciplinary practices in engineering education through a successful case study. Specifically, we investigated a student team that participated in a worldwide concrete contest and whose proposed solution obtained first place. The members of such teams came from different backgrounds, areas of expertise, and levels of knowledge. This preliminary exploratory study uses a content analysis of the characteristics in the solution presented by the students to identify sustainability traits and their multidisciplinary connection. The results suggest that interactions in interdisciplinary teams promote designs that maximize efficient solutions. The authors set up the path for future work to conduct interviews and focus groups with the members of the student team and the advising instructors to understand the differentiated contributions of each member and their characteristics. The authors reflect on the avenue that academia could take to form new pedagogical approaches that include interdisciplinarity in engineering schools.

Key words: Interdisciplinary team, interdisciplinarity, sustainable solutions, sustainable development goals, interdisciplinary in engineering, education in engineering.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction	9
Development of the topic	
Background	11
Relationship between interdisciplinarity, sustainable solutions, and e	ducation
	12
Research Objective	15
Methodology	15
Team selection and student's work	16
Student's proposed solution	17
Data analysis	18
Results	18
Sustainable solution: Low-cost	18
Sustainable solution: Creative / Innovative	19
Sustainable solution: User-centered	20
Sustainable solution: SDG's centered	21
Discussion	23
Conclusions	27
Bibliographic References	28

INDEX OF TABLES

Table 1. Low-cost as sustainable solution noticed in video. Author's work (2022)	19
Table 2. Creative/Innovative as sustainable solution noticed in video. Author's work (2022).	,
	20
Table 3. User-Focused as sustainable solution noticed in video. Author's work (2022)	21
Table 4. Sustainable Development Goals, Author's work (2022)	23

INTRODUCTION

The world's challenges require complex and novel solutions from multifaceted and interdisciplinary developments in the modern and global landscape. The interaction of different fields of knowledge breaks the "boundaries of a single academic discipline or methodological approach" [1], bringing innovative and sustainable results to address current and future challenges. Therefore, multifaceted and interdisciplinary activities contribute to students in the built environment and infrastructure development majors to develop more sustainable solutions.

Specifically, interdisciplinarity is about applying knowledge and skills across multiple disciplines to address problems through multiple lenses [2]. This means that interdisciplinary creations require an overarching view that comes from the collaboration of various sources of disciplines and professionals [3]–[5]. Consequently, the transcendence of multifaceted and interdisciplinary contributions has created a new form of knowledge-sharing between professionals in different areas [1]. In education, such knowledge-sharing generates a positive impact on students' skills.

Applied multifaceted and interdisciplinary practices in education improve the development of engineering design and solutions [6], [7]. The combination of knowledge generates an analytical environment to tackle problems and questions that cross traditional disciplinary boundaries [8]. Precisely, in engineering, the interdisciplinary knowledge from professionals in other disciplines allows the construction of creative, innovative, efficient, and sustainable structures [9], [10]. For the case study in this paper, the design ideas and processes, such as textile-reinforced concrete, were born from interdisciplinary contributions, which can be applied to today's global social and environmental problems.

Finally, this paper aims to study the multifaceted and interdisciplinary practices in engineering education through a successful case study. The case of study is the proposed solution by an interdisciplinary team of students that participated in a worldwide concrete contest by the American Concrete Institute (ACI). The members of the team came from different disciplines and levels of expertise to enhance the combination of knowledge and experience in the learning process. The authors analyzed the sustainability traits of the team's proposed solution and the fields of knowledge that support such characteristics. Hence, this study aims to understand the role of interdisciplinary solutions for the built environment and infrastructure development majors.

DEVELOPMENT FO THE TOPIC

Background

Today's worldwide challenges require innovative and sustainable solutions to change the way of living. These solutions do not arise based on one discipline only [2], [11]. On the contrary, they need complex solutions from multifaceted and interdisciplinary developments. Specifically, interdisciplinarity employs multiple academic fields of knowledge to create a comprehensive understanding [12]. This means that multifaceted and interdisciplinarity teams apply knowledge and skills across multiple disciplines to create complex and creative solutions [1]. Therefore, introducing interdisciplinary practices allows students and professionals to make connections between several kinds of knowledge to use them to solve current global challenges.

One of the advantages of interdisciplinary studies is that it can reinvent the entire education process and create new solutions. By allowing students and professionals to cross traditional boundaries and disciplines, new contributions and connections are forged against the world's problems and beyond [13]. In this way, students and professionals can combine multiple kinds of knowledge and pursue different ways of thinking about the same problem or subject [14]. For that reason, this encourages cross-disciplinary collaboration that allows the development of critical thinking skills to find creative solutions to the real world. On the other hand, the benefits of multifaceted and interdisciplinary studies can be technically summarized into five categories [1]. The first one is related to providing sustainable solutions to crucial problems. The second one refers to improving current research troubles from the base. The third one is about providing stimulus to a specific discipline area. The fourth one talks about the importance

of challenging modern knowledge and understanding the real world. Finally, the last benefit is promoting the development of new methodical approaches [15].

However, interdisciplinary studies and collaborations have significant challenges that should be considered. One of the biggest barriers to obtaining true interdisciplinary contributions in education is the necessity for collaboration of educators [16]. The lack of communication between students, professors, and advisors prevents the shifting of disciplines, which causes the adaptation of interdisciplinarity to be difficult. Traditional learning processes are based on the idea of "common core"—students working for the same goal, taking similar courses, and therefore, exchanging analogous ideas [14]. This could cause students to perceive interdisciplinarity as an unimportant characteristic of engineering and, therefore, to apply it less frequently or just to check a box.

In addition, another big challenge of applying interdisciplinarity in education is that the knowledge is antagonistic between professionals or students respectively [17]. This difference prevents achieving true integration of disciplines and knowledge as well, but more importantly, this puts a barrier between disciplines with totally different areas of knowledge. Therefore, the integration of different disciplines requires areas of knowledge that relate to and complement each other, to ensure that the combination of knowledge is effective and generates an adequate solution [18]. In this way, interdisciplinarity in related academic fields serves to create an academic or organizational community with students or professionals committed and with a sense of belonging.

Relationship between interdisciplinarity, sustainable solutions, and education.

Besides interdisciplinarity having benefits and barriers, it is closely related to sustainability. In September 2015 the United Nations acknowledged the need for a more sustainable world, setting 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) [19]. In general, the 17 SDGs have the goal

of "ending extreme poverty, protecting the planet, and ensuring prosperity for all by 2030" [20]. The SDGs also include issues such as climate change, sustainable consumption, and most importantly sustainable development, concluding that quality education is the best way to promote it [21]. For this reason, the fourth SDG focuses specifically on "education for sustainable development" [20], which evidences the importance of the education process in sustainable solutions.

Sustainable development needs several disciplines, such as science, environment, engineering, medicine, architecture, history, economics, and so on. For this reason, the SDGs need an interdisciplinary approach to be pursued [22]. By applying interdisciplinarity in education, students will be able to confront "problems that cross traditional disciplines, involve multiple stakeholders, and occur on multiple scales" [23], such as climate change. Interdisciplinarity must prepare students and professionals to find appropriate solutions to current challenges and take action to address them, achieving "its purpose by transforming the society" [21].

In this way, interdisciplinary collaborations allow the exchange of ideas between professionals and students with diverse backgrounds, areas of expertise, and levels of knowledge, also having a positive impact on built environment infrastructure. Additionally, interdisciplinary developments challenge the personal and institutional boundaries "acting to maintain a sense of ownership and authority over territories of knowledge" [1]. This creates a methodical and unified academic and work environment in which students and professionals acquire more knowledge.

Promoting sustainable development is the new urgency in the context of climate change and biodiversity loss [24]. Industrialization and the high consumption of resources demand that all human activities have a sustainable approach. Sustainability can be implemented through ideas, designs, prototypes, models, etc. that involve several fields. In other words, sustainability must

be applied through interdisciplinary solutions. These solutions are characterized by creativity, innovation, efficiency, and, in most cases, low cost [25]–[27]. Green buildings implement sustainability using "renewable energy sources, sustainable and recycled materials, quality of the environment, people's health and comfort, ecological waste management, transport, and many other parameters" [28] to improve the health of tourists and, most importantly, promote sustainable solutions.

Green Hotels is a good example of applying interdisciplinary education to create sustainable solutions because it requires a combination of interrelated disciplines. However, interdisciplinarity is difficult to implement in academia because it demands restructuring the teacher training process so that teachers understand the interconnectedness between disciplines and their importance [22]. Despite that, interdisciplinary cooperation is considered an important element in higher education because it can instill creativity, innovation, and synergy through collaboration, teamwork, application, and blurring of disciplinary boundaries [29]. Thus, in this paper we explore the interdisciplinary contributions in related construction-related academic fields to study how interdisciplinarity is working and adapting in education nowadays.

There are some important variables to develop an interdisciplinary education, such as selecting the problem to solve, determining how much interaction it takes between the different disciplines, and the constructive alignment [30]. Nevertheless, it has been stated that it is difficult to make significant progress in the interdisciplinary education field in the absence of defined disciplines for the participants [31]. Also, other significant aspects such as pedagogy, epistemology, and politics are present in these interdisciplinary investigations [32]. It is important to remember that in an interdisciplinary team, there should not be any hierarchy between the participative disciplines, but respect and mutual contribution to generate more

results, approaches, and new questions to be answered [30]. The simple fact of juxtaposing a professor within a university class does not conceive the idea of developing understood and complex thinking [32]. This is why interdisciplinary education within universities is a purely expository and demonstrative environment, so the urgency of interdisciplinary action in education needs to be given by teachers based on its theoretical purposes [32].

There are no specific models to apply interdisciplinarity in education, although it is the key to employability and sustainable development [33]. Problem-based learning (PBL) and project-based learning (PjBL) seem suitable to enhance students' interdisciplinary competence because both pedagogies empathize with student collaboration from other disciplines [33]. The difference between these pedagogies is that PBL focus their learning mode to allow students to focus their academic projects to their context, expectations, interests and knowledge, and PjBL focuses their learning mode to activities and tasks where students, through a process of negotiation, look for the main objective which is to obtain a final product or solution[30].

Research objective

This paper aims to explore the contributions to sustainability solutions by an interdisciplinary team of students from construction-related majors. This article explores the sustainable characteristics of a solution proposed by an interdisciplinary team of students in a worldwide concrete contest.

Methodology

The study uses a case study methodology [34], [35] to explore how interdisciplinary teams contribute to sustainable designs. The researchers analyzed the solution proposed by students for the yearly worldwide concrete contest hosted by the American Concrete Institute. The

solution was presented in a 7-minute video showcasing a solution proposed by students (link: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=mNdnRN-99Bs). The case study Unit of Analysis consisted of the students' design solutions for the contest. Based on the theory previously described, the propositions of the case study are: (i) solutions proposed by students from different fields will be reflected in the characteristics of such solution, and (ii) solutions proposed by students from interdisciplinary teams in the construction major will have sustainability traits such as innovation, creativity, low cost, and user-focused solutions.

The ACI competition aims to seek and find creative and innovative ideas to advance the concrete industry. This year, the challenge was to propose the future of concrete in building societies of the future. There were two categories: most innovative design/developmental use of concrete, and overall highest score. Each category was evaluated for a video submission proposing each solution (60%) and an interview (40%). The interview only occurred with the teams who received higher scores in the solution presented in the video. The judges were appointed by the ACI chair of committee S801, who develop the scoring rubric for the contest.

Team selection and students' work.

The team selection aimed to gather an interdisciplinary group. Professors of civil engineering revised student applications and selected a team made up of six members: three junior/senior civil engineering students, one architect, one graphic designer and animator, and one economics student who knew sign language. The team also included a faculty coordinator and a board of faculty consultants to meet once a week. The team had only three weeks to prepare their solution, starting from brainstorm to submitting their final product. The team advisor oversaw and supported the work of students to allow for different perspectives and approaches that maximized the students' strengths. Civil engineering students were interested in doing research about new ideas of concrete, and the architecture student helped them to think out of

the box to improve the ideas with new perspectives. The economics student brought feasibility and psychological traits to the table. The graphic design student helped them to be more creative and to improve communication of science to not-so-technical language. Finally, sign language was included, as the students' initiative, to create an inclusive video.

To carry out an interdisciplinary process, the advisor used focus group discussion methodology that consisted of creating three groups from the team, with students participating in more than one group. The first group researched innovative ideas of concrete. This group began by creating brainstorming meetings with the advisor to discuss the ideas. Each idea was analyzed by civil engineering and architecture students. The second group investigated economic and environmental impacts. The third group investigated impacts of COVID-19 on mental health and quality of life in the cities, and its relationship with the potential solutions. Each focus group had meetings with the graphic design student to support the preparation of the video, ensuring that the elaborated sketches aligned with the script. In the drawing and writing processes, all of students were able to elaborate ideas concerning their script.

Students' proposed solution.

The final solution crafted by the team consisted of using optical fibers within the Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (AAC) to make translucid masonry blocks and highlighting the multifaceted benefits of such materials and indoor exposure to natural sunlight. Students researched translucent concrete and AAC from academic committees, manufacturers, and producers of translucent concrete, the transportation logistics, and the construction methods and technologies. The characteristics of the final solutions included the benefits of natural light such as the psychological effects on users, improved green building standards, reduced costs of production and commercialization, low-energy manufacturing material, improved structure

by reducing dead weight, and connections to Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning

(HVAC) systems. The solution included sign language translation to be more inclusive.

Data analysis.

For data analysis, the characteristics of the solutions presented by the teams were established.

Following previously developed coding methods [36], [37], the solution was transcribed and

coded for similar ideas and then clustered in emerging codes and a priori codes such as

innovative, creative, efficient, low-cost, and user-focused and SDGs-oriented characteristics.

The codes were clustered around overarching themes contrasting the sustainability traits with

the knowledge of origin to understand how interdisciplinarity worked among the team. The

authors acted as Coders 1, 2, and 3, having an 88% of agreement in the coding. The average

percent agreement was determined by the sum of a discrepancy between the coders and the

number of times an additional coder suggested another category for a particular element.

Discrepancies were then discussed and resolved.

Results

The results presented below reflect the sustainable characteristics of the solution presented by

the interdisciplinary team. The solution's characteristics were clustered into low-cost,

creative/innovative, user-centered, and SDGs-centered solutions.

Sustainable solution: Low-cost.

As a first sustainable solution, low-cost has the objective of improving and taking advantage

of the available materials in the market, looking for a better application for them and avoiding

wasting money on the common and traditional. The solution states that carrying out masonry

with optical fibers through Autoclaved Aerated Concrete is profitable, stated at minute 01'46".

This AAC consists in its composition of fine aggregates, cement, water, and an expansion agent, which gives it the ability to expand by itself. Some advantages for the client who will use a structure with AAC are that masonry will preserve temperature, have fire prevention and natural porosity that works as an acoustic insulation, be moisture-proof, provide environmental protection, and others. Also, the physical properties of AAC benefit builders and masons, since its porous structure makes it easy to move as well as modify with cuts or drilling, which will also save in workforce.

Minute	Sustainable Solution	Reason	Student Area Contribution
01'46"	Low-cost	Autoclaved Aerated Concrete (AAC)	Civil Engineering
05'26"	Low-cost	Optimization of energy performance	Architecture / Economic

Table 1. Low-cost as sustainable solution noticed in video. Author's work (2022).

Sustainable solution: Creative / Innovative.

The second sustainable solution is presented as the creativity and innovation of the participants in the face of a problem, with a different solution. The video's introduction starts by discussing the psychological benefits that occur in a user of a structure from the first rays of daylight. From minute 01'23" onwards, the use of optical fibers is mentioned not only within traditional concrete but rather with AAC. The benefits of such an idea relate directly to improving the user's mood and performance. Although the part of making translucent concrete is innovative, mixing different topics of construction makes it a creative idea, thus helping to provide a creative/innovative solution in terms of economic, psychological, constructive, or architectural traits.

Minute	Sustainabl e Solution	Reason	Student Area Contribution	
	Creative /	Use of optical fibers into traditional		
01'23"	Innovative	concrete mix	Civil Engineering	
	Creative /			
01'29"	Innovative	Translucent concrete blocks for masonry	Architecture	
	Creative /			
02'01"	Innovative	Introduce optical fibers into AAC mix	Civil Engineering	
	Creative /		Architecture / Civil	
02'22"	Innovative	Translucent AAC masonry units	Engineering	

Table 2. Creative/Innovative as sustainable solution noticed in video. Author's work (2022).

Sustainable solution: User-centered.

Although the ACI competition is a technical contest, the students' winning solution focuses first on the user. The proposed solution begins by focusing on the cognitive benefits of users from the translucent masonry of the AAC, knowing that the higher the content of fibers in the blocks the higher the amount of light it allows. At minute 03'08", the team states the importance of considering the environment that the clients/users want. The passage of a greater amount of natural light leads to an improvement of the state of mind and health, but it can also increase temperatures, preferences for which differ for designing a home or an office. Other preferences for users to consider are the potential decorative traits and the amount of indoor light desired. At minute 06'06", the team mentions that if users spend a third of their lives locked up in an office, using translucid masonry can help change the indoors experience. Furthermore, the video states that although optical fibers within masonry blocks may be costly, the costs drop

when using AAC. Finally, when translucent masonry is a replacement for traditional masonry, people will receive natural light, which will increase their well-being by 70%. Also, with translucent blocks, it will no longer be necessary to use too much electric lighting or systems belonging to the HVAC, since the lighting and mechanical properties of the block will avoid wasting energy, so the electric bill will be reduced considerably.

Minute	Sustainable Solution	Reason	Student Area Contribution
	User-		
03'08"	Focused	Different fiber content and spacing	Civil Engineering
	User-	Cognitive benefits of using translucent	Architecture /
04'51"	Focused	concrete	Psychology
	User-		
05'40"	Focused	Improve mental health	Economic / Psychology
	User-	Spaces that ignite happiness and	Architecture /
06'06"	Focused	improve productivity	Psychology

Table 3. User-Focused as sustainable solution noticed in video. Author's work (2022).

Sustainable solution: SDGs-centered.

Other factors of the solutions analyzed are framed in the SDGs, proposed by the United Nations to stop poverty in the world, protect the planet, and ensure that everyone enjoys peace and prosperity. The solution presented mentions direct ties to goals 3, 8, 9, 11, 12, 13. Table below shows the relationship between SDGs and the sustainability traits of the proposed solution. For example, the solution heavily points towards a cognitive benefit, which means it focuses on a psychological issue rather than a constructive one. It speaks of the increase in productivity and

well-being of people who occupy infrastructures with translucent masonry. Such a trait is directly related to SDG 3, which points to health and well-being. This solution was found through the collaboration of the interdisciplinary team, to the architectural and psychological aspects that designed a new construction element.

SDG	Objective	The solution as an example	Student Area
No.			Contribution
3	Health and wellness	Translucent Autoclaved Aerated Concrete	Architecture/
		as masonry units will improve the	Psychology
		wellness and productivity of users of the	
		structure.	
8	Decent work and	Autoclaved Aerated Concrete will	Finance and
	economic growth	strengthen the dynamic and competitive	Economy
		economies.	
9	Industry, innovation,	Translucent Autoclaved Aerated Concrete	Civil Engineering
	and infrastructure	will encourage an inclusive and	
		sustainable industry.	
11	Sustainable cities	Translucent Autoclaved Aerated Concrete	Architecture
	and communities	will reduce the amount of billed energy, by	
		natural light.	
12	Responsible	Autoclaved Aerated Concrete in	Civil Engineering
	production and	translucent masonry will have a	
	consumption	responsible production of these blocks.	

13	Climate Action	Use of Translucent Autoclaved Aerated	Civil Engineering
		Concrete will reduce CO2 emissions.	

Table 4. Sustainable Development Goals. Author's work (2022).

The interdisciplinary team contributed to considering solutions with sustainable traits such as low cost, innovation and creativity, user focus, and SDGs related to the solution proposed at the ACI competition.

Discussion

Interdisciplinary contributions require several disciplines to pursue a sustainable solution [22]. Specifically, engineering needs the intervention of professional architects, scientists, economists and financiers to propose a solution that is creative/innovative, low-cost, and user-centered because collaboration is a characteristic of an interdisciplinary solution [25]. The solution of using translucent AAC Masonry has sustainable characteristics such as being low-cost, creative/innovative, and user-centered.

The team in this case study is considered interdisciplinary because it is made up of students in different disciplines such as engineering, architecture, economics, animation and graphic design, and sign language. The contribution of each one was key to reaching a sustainable solution that meets the needs of the user and improves their quality of life. Each student had a voice and participated throughout the three weeks of work before submitting their proposal. For example, the engineering students oversaw improving the qualities of the concrete with the optical fibers. As mentioned above, this allows the concrete to be able to transmit more light into a room. This was a key suggestion by the architecture student since, with this type of concrete, access to light can be reduced to build larger spaces. Adding the optical fibers reduces

the emission of CO2 and the amount of cement used in the mixture, which makes this concrete more economical, a suggestion that came from the economics student. Finally, the graphic design and animation student oversaw making the video in a direct, fast, and appropriate way so that the proposed solution was easy to understand. The teamwork carried out in this competition reflects the importance of interdisciplinarity in daily life, and how the solutions obtained are an example of how and interdisciplinary group of work is one of many paths to improve people's quality of life. Future studies will aim to understand the interdisciplinary design process to understand the effectiveness of student's contribution as interdisciplinary work.

Allowing professionals and students to cross traditional boundaries to create new solutions can leave variables unexamined due to the amount of information exchanged [12]. Nevertheless, a barrier to interdisciplinarity in education fields and workspaces is lack of communication [9], leading to difficulty of exchanging ideas to develop efficient and useful solutions. Without proper communication, the proposed traits to create new architectural spaces and engineering solutions can be lost. Thus, developing communication between professionals and students can prevent this situation and improve the solutions proposed.

Likewise, to improve the effectiveness of an interdisciplinary solution, it is important to promote communication and collaboration between professionals and students [16]. Although the participation of the interdisciplinary team members cannot be controlled, it can be monitored. Thus, results could be obtained from the collaboration of each discipline before the different proposals of other participants are shared, as well as from information about the process in which ideas are shared, discussed, and accepted. The result of this process is the creation of a comprehensive atmosphere in the team to establish a better understanding of the problem and propose appropriate solutions [1].

A very important characteristic of a sustainable solution is that it must be user-centered [23]. Interdisciplinarity in education and workspaces has demonstrated that it can generate user-centered solutions with the intervention of several disciplines. However, knowing specifically the requirements of the users is crucial to making the solution functional and effective [38]. In this case, a survey could be carried out to determine what users are looking for within the use of a structure. Thinking about the stakeholders and making the solutions user-centered requires obtaining important feedback to improve the design of these solutions [39].

Being able to count on an interdisciplinary team was an important key to being able to reach the results in the ACI competition's participant team and to understand that there is no limit to what can be created and innovated. The collaboration of different disciplines unites the best of several worlds of knowledge to be able to provide not only a structural solution, which is what an engineer looks for, but also a new way of living constructions, in the materials that are used and in how they will affect the final users' decisions. These multifaceted and interdisciplinary solutions have a lot of benefits related to sustainability [22]. Interdisciplinary collaborations allow the exchange of knowledge between professionals and students to address solutions that have a positive impact on the world. In future contexts, perhaps adding a scoring system, such as sustainability rating systems, can help spark such creativity and innovation towards direct sustainable goals.

Finally, it is known that interdisciplinary contributions are directly connected to sustainable development. The United Nations set the 17 SDGs to preserve the environment and its natural resources [19]. So, it would be interesting and profitable to find a way to include more SDGs in the sustainable solutions already presented. This can remedy current and future problems related to climate change, high consumption, and resource shortages [21]. Education is a good

way to not only promote sustainable development in the classroom but to transfer it to the industry.

CONCLUSIONS

Nowadays, the world's challenges require innovative solutions to preserve the environment and its resources and improve our way of living. Interdisciplinarity is defined as the combination of knowledge coming from several disciplines to create creative, innovative, lowcost, and user-centered solutions. This preliminary exploratory study suggests that exposing students to interdisciplinary challenges supports their future contributions as professionals. This article analyzed the case study of an interdisciplinary team crafting the award-winning solution in a worldwide technical concrete contest. The award-winning proposed solution has interdisciplinary collaborations in terms of economic, environmental, and social characteristics. The team's solution had connections to SDGs 3, 8, 9, 11, 12, and 13. As for future work, researchers are working on interviews and focus groups with the students and advisor to analyze the interaction students had while working in the team, to understand better their cognitive design process when faced with other lenses of expertise and developing best practices to design such challenges in the classroom. Future studies will aim to understand the interdisciplinary design process to understand the effectiveness of student's contribution as interdisciplinary work, and its connection to sustainable design traits. Furthermore, the researchers will aim to understand how to apply such interdisciplinary experiences into other experiences of the majors both within specific courses and between majors.

BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCES

- [1] E. J. Power y J. Handley, «A best-practice model for integrating interdisciplinarity into the higher education student experience», *Stud. High. Educ.*, vol. 44, n.º 3, pp. 554-570, 2019.
- [2] I. Ashby y M. Exter, «Designing for interdisciplinarity in higher education: Considerations for instructional designers», *TechTrends*, vol. 63, n.° 2, pp. 202-208, 2019.
- [3] P. Brandão y A. Remesar, «Interdisciplinarity-Urban Design practice, a research and teaching matrix», *W Terfront*, n.° 16, pp. 3-33, 2010.
- [4] H. Murzi *et al.*, «Cultural dimensions in academic disciplines, a comparison between Ecuador and the United States of America», 2021.
- [5] M. A. Guerra, H. Murzi, J. Woods Jr, y A. Diaz-Strandberg, «Understanding Students' Perceptions of Dimensions of Engineering Culture in Ecuador», 2020.
- [6] A. Sedaghat, «Factors affecting the team formation and work in project based learning (PBL) for multidisciplinary engineering subjects», *J. Probl. Based Learn. High. Educ.*, vol. 6, n.° 2, 2018.
- [7] M. A. Guerra y T. Shealy, «Theoretically comparing design thinking to design methods for large-scale infrastructure systems», *Fifth Int. Conf. Des. Creat.*, feb. 2018.
- [8] D. Youngblood, «Multidisciplinarity, interdisciplinarity, and bridging disciplines: A matter of process», *J. Res. Pract.*, vol. 3, n.° 2, pp. M18-M18, 2007.
- [9] W. Admiraal *et al.*, «Students as future workers: Cross-border multidisciplinary learning labs in higher education», *Int. J. Technol. Educ. Sci.*, vol. 3, n.° 2, pp. 85-94, 2019.
- [10] M. A. Guerra y C. Gopaul, «IEEE Region 9 Initiatives: Supporting Engineering Education During COVID-19 Times», *IEEE Potentials*, vol. 40, n.° 2, pp. 19-24, mar. 2021, doi: 10.1109/MPOT.2020.3043738.
- [11] M. A. Guerra y T. Shealy, «Teaching User-Centered Design for More Sustainable Infrastructure Through Role-Play and Experiential Learning», *J. Prof. Issues Eng. Educ. Pract.*, feb. 2018, [En línea]. Disponible en: https://ascelibrary.org/journal/jpepe3
- [12] P. Raento, «Interdisciplinarity», Int. Encycl. Hum. Geogr., p. 357, 2020.
- [13] O. Gruenwald, «THE PROMISE OF INTERDISCIPLINARY STUDIES: RE-IMAGINING THE UNIVERSITY», Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies, 26(1/2), pp. 1-28, 2014.
- [14] J. Misiewicz, «The Benefits and Challenges of Interdisciplinarity», *Interdiscip. Stud. Connect. Learn. Approach*, 2016.
- [15] Elsevier, «Review of the UK's Interdisciplinary Research Using a Citation-based Approach: Report to the UK HE Funding Bodies and MRC By Elsevier.», 2015, [En línea]. Disponible en: 5. http://www.hefce.ac.uk/media/HEFCE,2014/
 Content/Pubs/Independentresearch/2015/Review,of,the,UKs,interdisciplinary,research/2015 interdisc.pdf
- [16] M. Appleby, «"What Are the Benefits of Interdisciplinary Study?», OpenLearn, may 2015, [En línea]. Disponible en: http://www.open.edu/openlearn/education/what-arethe-benefits-interdisciplinary-study
- [17] P. R. Lawrence y J. W. Lorsch, "Organization and Environment", pp. 47-48, 1967.
- [18] M. Stember, «Advancing the Social Sciences Through the Interdisciplinary Enterprise», The Social Science Journal 28 (1):, pp. 1-14, 1991.
- [19] K. Ban, «Sustainable Development Goals», 2016.

- [20] O. UN, «Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development», *U. N. N. Y. NY USA*, 2015.
- [21] UNESCO, «UNESCO roadmap for implementing the global action programme on education for sustainable development». Unesco Paris, 2014.
- [22] F. Annan-Diab y C. Molinari, «Interdisciplinarity: Practical approach to advancing education for sustainability and for the Sustainable Development Goals», *Int. J. Manag. Educ.*, vol. 15, n.° 2, pp. 73-83, 2017.
- [23] A. Dale y L. Newman, «Sustainable development, education and literacy», *Int. J. Sustain. High. Educ.*, 2005.
- [24] S. Baker, «Sustainable development». Routledge, 2015.
- [25] J. Elliott, An introduction to sustainable development. Routledge, 2012.
- [26] W. A. Salas-Zapata, L. A. Ríos-Osorio, y J. A. Cardona-Arias, «Methodological characteristics of sustainability science: A systematic review», *Environ. Dev. Sustain.*, vol. 19, n.º 4, pp. 1127-1140, 2017.
- [27] A. Boar, R. Bastida, y F. Marimon, «A systematic literature review. Relationships between the sharing economy, sustainability and sustainable development goals», *Sustainability*, vol. 12, n.° 17, p. 6744, 2020.
- [28] T. Floričić, «Sustainable solutions in the hospitality industry and competitiveness context of "green hotels"», *Civ. Eng. J.*, vol. 6, n.° 6, pp. 1104-1113, 2020.
- [29] A. Haynes, «In support of disciplinarity in teaching sociology: reflections from Ireland.», *Teaching Sociology*, 45(1), pp. 54-64, 2007.
- [30] R. Donnelly y M. Fitzmaurice, «Collaborative project-based learning and problem-based learning in higher education: A consideration of tutor and student roles in learner-focused strategies», *Emerg. Issues Pract. Univ. Learn. Teach.*, pp. 87-98, 2005.
- [31] L. Leydesdorff, C. S. Wagner, y L. Bornmann, «Betweenness and diversity in journal citation networks as measures of interdisciplinarity—A tribute to Eugene Garfield», *Scientometrics*, vol. 114, n.° 2, pp. 567-592, 2018.
- [32] B. V. de Souza Marins, H. C. Ramos, G. S. Ferreira, S. R. R. Costa, y H. G. Costa, «Interdisciplinarity in Higher Education: A Cross-Sectional Analysis of the Literature in the period 2014-2018», *Braz. J. Oper. Prod. Manag.*, vol. 16, n.º 1, pp. 113-125, 2019.
- [33] M. Brassler y J. Dettmers, «How to enhance interdisciplinary competence—interdisciplinary problem-based learning versus interdisciplinary project-based learning», *Interdiscip. J. Probl.-Based Learn.*, vol. 11, n.° 2, p. 12, 2017.
- [34] R. K. Yin, Case study research: Design and methods. Sage publications, 2013. Accedido: 23 de abril de 2017. [En línea]. Disponible en: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=OgyqBAAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PT243&dq=use+study+research+yin&ots=FaN1gdj45i&sig=EMc6lWrXmburXS1-ml3XSvyxfiY
- [35] J. W. Creswell, Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. Sage publications, 2013. [En línea]. Disponible en: https://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=EbogAQAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP1&dq =creswell+mixed+methods&ots=cbaKsVQtFb&sig=Z8omA9pn0S1XPf7-jZaAjBN1H50
- [36] M. R. Roller, A quality approach to qualitative content analysis: Similarities and differences compared to other qualitative methods. SSOAR-Social Science Open Access Repository, 2019.
- [37] J. Blizzard y L. Klotz, «Design thinkers want to save the world», *Des. Stud.*, n.° In Review, 2013.

- [38] D. Fitton, K. Cheverst, C. Kray, A. Dix, M. Rouncefield, y G. Saslis-Lagoudakis, «Rapid prototyping and user-centered design of interactive display-based systems», *IEEE Pervasive Comput.*, vol. 4, n.º 4, pp. 58-66, 2005.
- [39] J.-Y. Mao, K. Vredenburg, P. W. Smith, y T. Carey, «The state of user-centered design practice», *Commun. ACM*, vol. 48, n.° 3, pp. 105-109, 2005.